**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
Court of Appeals**

---

**APPEAL FROM LANCASTER COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions**

**Honorable Judge Brooks P. Goldsmith**

---

**Appellate Case No. 2012-209191  
Case No. 2008-GS-484 and 2008-GS-29-206**

---

**The State,**

**Respondent,**

**v.**

**Joseph Bradley Loftin,**

**Appellant.**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

JOHN DELGADO, #1621  
Bluestein, Nichols, Thompson & Delgado  
Post Office Box 7965  
Columbia, SC 29202  
Telephone: (803) 779-7599  
Facsimile: (803) 771-8097

RECEIVED

NOV 12 2013

SC Court of Appeals

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. The Trial Court erred in ruling that an incident for which the Petitioner was not being tried possessed a sufficiently close amount of similarity to the incidents Petitioner was being tried for to constitute a common scheme.
2. The Trial Court erred in not allowing the Petitioner to inquire into Complainant's prior sexual activity.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner, Joseph Loftin, was indicted in Lancaster County on October 13, 2011, for one (1) count of Criminal Sexual Conduct (CSC) with a Minor in the 2<sup>nd</sup> Degree, indictment number 2008-GS-29-494. [CSC Indictment]. A jury tried Petitioner on October 18-20, 2011, before the Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith. After the jury was unable to announce a unanimous verdict, the trial judge granted Petitioner's motion for a mistrial. Petitioner was then indicted in Lancaster County on February 9, 2012, for one (1) additional count of Lewd Act on a Minor Child (Lewd Act), indictment number 2008-GS-29-206, arising from the same incident. [Lewd Act Indictment]. Petitioner was again tried by a jury February 14-16 and 22, 2012, before the Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith and found guilty on both counts. Petitioner properly served a Notice of Appeal on February 28, 2012.

## FACTS

The Petitioner began dating the Complainant's mother, Virginia Threatt, in or around 2002. (R. p. 130, line 20). Between 2005 and December 2007, Petitioner and Threatt lived together at 1953 Brady Road, Lancaster, South Carolina (the Brady House). (R. p. 137, line 5; R. p. 153, lines. 10-15). Three children also lived in the household: one child belonging to both Petitioner and Threatt and two children belonging only to Threatt. (R. p. 129, line 24- p. 130, line 8). While two of the children were not biologically related to the Petitioner, the Petitioner treated all three of the children as his own. (R. p. 135, lines. 20-25). Indeed, the Complainant viewed Petitioner as a father figure. (R. p. 72, line 13).

In December 2007, Petitioner and Threatt ended their relationship and Petitioner moved out of the Brady House. (R. p. 137, lines 5-7-). On January 4, 2008, the Complainant, Threatt's twelve (12) year old daughter, made a disclosure to her school principal in which she alleged that Petitioner had been sexually abusing her between August 2007, and December 2007. (R. p. 92, lines 3-7-). The Complainant alleged that the first time the Petitioner sexually assaulted her was during a hunting trip in August 2007, in Chester County, South Carolina. (R. p. 77, lines. 6-7-). The Complainant testified, under objection, that herself, the Petitioner, Threatt, and Threatt's other child were hunting in deer stands. (R. p. 78, lines. 3-16). Threatt and the other child were in one deer stand while the Complainant and Petitioner were in another stand, some distance away. Id. The Complainant stated that the Petitioner then had vaginal intercourse with her in the deer stand, with a condom. (Id., lines. 19-24).

The Complainant testified that after the incident in Chester County, the Complainant and Petitioner began a romantic relationship. (R. p. 86, lines 14-19). The Complainant alleged that she and Petitioner had vaginal intercourse in the Brady House every day until December 2007,

when the Petitioner moved out of the household. (R. p. 81, lines 8-12). The Complainant testified that the Petitioner had vaginal intercourse daily with the Complainant in every room in the house, but mostly at night in a pull out couch in the living room. (R. p. 80, lines. 2-3).

Shortly after the Complainant made the allegation in January 2008, she became pregnant and eventually gave birth to a child who was fathered by the Complainant's underage boyfriend, not the Petitioner. (R. p. 57, lines 4-18). Moreover, evidence was introduced during the trial that unidentified male semen was located inside the Brady Home during the execution of a search warrant on January 10, 2008. (R. p. 54, lines. 4-5; R. p. 172, line 22; R. p. 173, line 2; R. p. 260, lines. 2-3). The Petitioner has testified at both trials and denied any inappropriate contact with the Complainant. Petitioner was not charged with the alleged incident in Chester County.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The Trial Court erred in ruling that the alleged Chester County incident possessed a sufficiently close amount of similarity to the remaining alleged incidents at the Brady House to constitute common scheme.**

While evidentiary rulings by the trial judge are generally given deference, a ruling may be reversed if there was an abuse of discretion. State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006).

Over objection, the trial court admitted testimony regarding the alleged incident of sexual abuse in Chester County. (R. p. 77, lines. 8-18). The trial judge ruled that although the Petitioner had not been charged with the incident in that county, the testimony was admissible as a common scheme under State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923), and Rule 404, SCRE. Id.

Evidence of other bad acts is not admissible to prove the Defendant’s guilt except to show motive, identity, existence of a common scheme or plan, absence of mistake or accident, or intent. Rule 404(b), SCRE; *see also* Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803; State v. Wallace, 384 S.C. 428, 683 S.E.2d 275 (2009). A showing of a common scheme through bad acts is generally allowed and viewed as relevant because proof of one act is strong proof of the other. Wallace at 433, 118 S.E.2d. at 277. However, “a close degree of similarity or connection between the prior bad act and the crime for which the Defendant is on trial is necessary.” State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 468, 523 S.E.2d 787, 791 (Ct. App. 1999) (*citing* State v. Cutro, 332 S.C. 100, 504 S.E.2d 324 (1998)).

The Supreme Court of South Carolina has pointed out specific factors to consider when deciding whether an act of child sexual abuse is sufficiently similar to another to constitute a common scheme. Wallace at 433-34, S.E.2d at 278. These factors include: (1) the age of the complainants when the abuse occurred; (2) the relationship between the complainants and the perpetrator; (3) the location where the abuse occurred; (4) the use of coercion or threats; and (5) the manner of the occurrence, for example, the type of sexual battery. Id.

This Court had the opportunity to apply these factors in a case that involved allegations of multiple incidences of sexual conduct by one complainant and one Defendant. State v. Taylor, 399 S.C. 51, 731 S.E.2d 596 (Ct. App. 2011). In that case, the Defendant was accused of abusing a child on two different occasions. Id. at 55-56, S.E.2d at 598. The incidents were nine (9) months apart and the Defendant was the complainant's pastor. Id. at 60, S.E.2d at 601. The incidents occurred at different locations but both were during Church outings. Id. Moreover, both incidents involved nearly identical threats directed at the child. Finally, the type of sexual battery was the same. This Court held that these similarities were sufficient to establish a common scheme. Id. at 55-56, S.E.2d at 598.

The facts presented in this case are meaningfully distinguishable from those in Taylor and do not establish a common scheme. The only similarity between the Chester County incident and the incidents that occurred at the Brady House is that the Complainant was the same age during both incidents. However, consideration of the other factors set forth in Taylor establishes that there were strong dissimilarities between the first incident in Chester County and the rest of the incidents of alleged abuse.

The relationship between the Petitioner and Complainant is alleged to have changed between the time of the Chester County incident and the incidents at the Brady House. The

Complainant testified that at the time of the Chester County incident, she saw the Petitioner as a father figure. However, according to the Complainant, during the time the rest of the incidents occurred, a romantic relationship between the Complainant and the Petitioner had begun.

Furthermore, the locations of the events were dissimilar. The Chester County incident occurred in a different county, outdoors, and in an area designated for hunting in a tree stand. The rest of the incidents occurred inside the rooms of the Brady House.<sup>1</sup> Moreover, this case is dissimilar to Taylor because the circumstances involving the locations were different. One happened during a hunting trip while the Brady House incidents allegedly happened inside the Petitioner and Complainant's home on a daily basis. The incidents at the Brady House were not dependent on a trip or event such as hunting.

Moreover, although the Complainant did not testify she was ever threatened, the nature of the alleged coercion differed in these events. The Complainant testified that the Chester County incident happened without any specific coercion or threats. However, she testified during the Brady House incidents that Petitioner made promises to run away with the Complainant to pursue their romantic relationship. (R. p. 85, lines. 22-24).

Finally, the nature of the sexual battery differed between the Chester County incident and the remaining incidents. While both involved vaginal intercourse with a condom, the Brady House incidents also allegedly involved oral sex, use of sexual devices, and unprotected sex. (R. p. 84, lines 12 – R. 85, line 10). This changed the nature of the alleged sexual activities. Merely having vaginal intercourse is itself alone insufficient to establish a common scheme.

Accordingly, because the dissimilarities between the Chester County incident and the rest of the

---

<sup>1</sup> While the Complainant referenced having sexual intercourse with Petitioner in Threatt's car, the location of the event was not elaborated on. R. p. 80, lines 2-3).

incidents at the Brady House are far outweighed by any similarities, a common scheme had not been established.

Because the event in Chester County was not similar to the remaining events at the Brady House, the trial judge erred in allowing testimony regarding Chester County.

**II. The Trial Court erred in not allowing Petitioner to inquire about the Complainant's prior sexual activity after the State introduced a pregnancy test and medical testimony into evidence.**

Complainants of sexual abuse are protected from inquiries into their previous sexual conduct by S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-659.1 (herewithin Rape Shield Statute):

(1) Evidence of specific instances of the victim's sexual conduct, opinion evidence of the victim's sexual conduct, and reputation evidence of the victim's sexual conduct is not admissible in prosecutions under Sections 16-3-615 and 16-3-652 to 16-3-656; however, evidence of the victim's sexual conduct with the defendant or evidence of specific instances of sexual activity with persons other than the defendant introduced to show source or origin of semen, pregnancy, or disease about which evidence has been introduced previously at trial is admissible if the judge finds that such evidence is relevant to a material fact and issue in the case and that its inflammatory or prejudicial nature does not outweigh its probative value. Evidence of specific instances of sexual activity which would constitute adultery and would be admissible under rules of evidence to impeach the credibility of the witness may not be excluded.

(2) If the defendant proposes to offer evidence described in subsection (1), the defendant, prior to presenting his defense shall file a written motion and offer of proof. The court shall order an in-camera hearing to determine whether the proposed evidence is admissible under subsection (1). If new evidence is discovered during the presentation of the defense that may make the evidence described in subsection (1) admissible, the judge may order an in-camera hearing to determine whether the proposed evidence is admissible under subsection (1).

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-659.1 (Supp. 1994).

Petitioner filed a pretrial motion, as required by the Rape Shield Statute, requesting permission to question the Complainant about specific instances of prior sexual conduct. [Motion to Allow Evidence]. The sexual conduct in question included instances of the Complainant leaving the Brady House at night and without permission to meet with an underage boyfriend. (Id.; R. p. 54, lines 1-4). The boyfriend is the father of the Complainant's child with which she became pregnant shortly after making the allegations against the Petitioner. [Motion to Allow Evidence]; (R. p. 57, lines 4-5). Moreover, unidentified male semen was discovered at the Brady House at the time of the disclosure indicating that other sexual activity had occurred in the household. (R. p. 54, line 5; R. p. 260, lines. 1-3). Petitioner requested to inquire about any sexual activity the Complainant may have been engaged in before the January 2008 disclosure. [Motion to Allow Evidence]. Petitioner's basis for the inquiry was not to attack the Complainant's character but for the purposes of impeachment, Petitioner's right to a fair trial, and the Petitioner's right to confront witnesses. (Id.; R. p. 54, lines. 18-21; R. p. 57, lines. 10-17).

The judge denied the motion as to the CSC with a Minor indictment stating that it was irrelevant evidence and also did not fall within any exception in the Rape Shield Statute. (R. p. 58, lines. 1-4). He also stated that although the Rape Shield Statute did not apply to the Lewd Act, he would not allow inquiry into the Complainant's sexual activities as to that indictment as it was irrelevant. (R. p. 59, lines. 18-24). However, the State relied on two material pieces of evidence during the trial where inquiry into the Complainant's previous sexual conduct would have been relevant and not barred by the Rape Shield Statute.

The first is a pregnancy test kit that the Petitioner allegedly bought for the Complainant in November of 2007. The Complainant testified that the Petitioner bought her a pregnancy test

kit from a local store because of Petitioner's fear that he may have impregnated the Complainant. (R. p. 88, lines. 13-18). The Complainant stated that after the pregnancy test gave a negative result, she was instructed by the Petitioner to throw it in the woods behind the Brady House. (R. p. 88, line 19 - R. p. 89, line 24). During the trial, the State introduced into evidence the pregnancy test found in the woods and receipts from the local store where it was bought. (R. p. 95, lines. 12-16; R. p. 206, lines. 19-22).

The second piece of material evidence introduced by the State was the expert testimony of Shaunese Singleton, M.D. Dr. Singleton testified that after the Complainant made the disclosure about the sexual abuse, Dr. Singleton gave the Complainant a medical exam on January 9, 2008. (R. p. 281, line 9). Dr. Singleton testified that during the exam, she found a deep cleft and slightly irregular hymen. (R. p. 282, line 5 – R. p. 283, line 3). Moreover, Dr. Singleton testified that the deep cleft found was large and indicative of a sexual assault. (R. p. 283, lines 6-22). Dr. Singleton indicated that the vaginal penetration required to cause this injury in a child would not be consistent with masturbation or the insertion of a tampon. (R. p. 283, line. 22 – R. p. 284, line 2). Moreover, on cross-examination, Dr. Singleton indicated that other things besides vaginal penetration could cause the injury but “typically those type of injuries are found in those people that are in motor type vehicle accidents or velocity high volume type incidents.” (R. p. 287, lines. 2-5).

**a. Petitioner should have been allowed to inquire into the Complainant's sexual activities under the Alternative Explanation Theory.**

While the Rape Shield Statute lists certain exceptions allowing inquiry into a Complainant's sexual activities, South Carolina's appellate courts have carved out exceptions to the statute that are not included in the statute's text. *See State v. Finley*, 300 S.C. 196, 387 S.E.2d 88 (1989) (Evidence offered for a purpose other than to attack the complainant's

morality); State v. Lang, 304 S.C. 300, 403 S.E.2d 677 (Ct. App. 1991) (Impeachment); State v. Grovenstein, 340 S.C. 210, 530 S.E.2d 406 (2000) (Alternative source of a child complainant's sexual knowledge).

The South Carolina Supreme Court has considered whether evidence showing that the complainant engaged in sexual conduct with another man is admissible. Finley at 198, S.E.2d at 88-89. In that case, the Defendant contended "that he did not physically assault the complainant; that they argued over her sexual activity with the neighbor, and that the complainant falsely accused him of attempted criminal sexual conduct out of anger and fear that he would publicly disclose information of her sexual activity." Id. at 198, S.E. 2d at 89. The Court held that the trial court erred in excluding the evidence. Id. at 200, S.E.2d at 90. The Court stated that:

The unique facts of this controversy, coupled with the appellant's right to confront and cross examine witnesses against him and to present a full defense to the charges makes relevant evidence which tends to establish motive, bias, and prejudice on the part of the prosecuting witness. Since the proffered evidence is essential to a full and fair determination of appellant's guilt and was offered for purposes other than to attack the complainant's character by revelation of her sexual activity with a third party, we conclude that such evidence does not come within the purview of the Rape Shield Statute.

Id.

Secondly, this Court stated in Lang that evidence relating to a complainant's sexual orientation was admissible for the purposes of impeachment. Lang, at 300, S.E.2d at 677. This court went on to state that Finley stood for the proposition that "the Rape Shield Statute did not bar evidence of a victim's sexual conduct if the evidence was offered for a purpose other than to attack the victim's morality." Lang at 301, S.E.2d at 678.

Finally, this Court carved out a third exception to the Rape Shield Statute for the purposes of showing an alternative source of a child complainant's sexual knowledge.

Grovenstein at 219, S.E.2d at 411. This Court agreed with the majority of other jurisdictions that inquiries into a complainant's sexual experiences are admissible if the purpose is to give an alternative source for a complainant's sexual knowledge other than the alleged acts that the Defendant is on trial for. Id. This Court stated that "in light of the Finley and Lang decisions, we hold that evidence of a child victim's prior sexual experience is relevant to demonstrate that the defendant is not necessarily the source of the victim's ability to testify about alleged sexual conduct." Id. Specifically, the evidence is "relevant to rebut the inference that a child victim could not describe the sexual acts unless the defendant had committed the alleged acts."

Accordingly, the appellate courts in South Carolina have created exceptions to the Rape Shield Statute outside of what the text of the statute permits. These exceptions are required to allow the Defendant, among other things, to have a fair trial, to confront witnesses, and to present a full defense. Because this case presents similar unique facts to the previously mentioned South Carolina cases, an exception here is warranted.

**i. Alternative Explanation Theory as to Dr. Singleton's Testimony**

Inquiry into the Complainant's prior sexual activities should have been permitted to rebut the implication created by Dr. Singleton's testimony. Dr. Singleton's testimony amounted to an expert opinion that the Complainant had been vaginally penetrated during a sexual act. Dr. Singleton indicated that she could not verify that a penis had penetrated the Complainant, but that, ordinarily, the only other cause would have been high velocity trauma. Indeed, during closing arguments, the Solicitor stated that other than penetration by a penis, "[t]he only thing [Dr. Singleton] could really compare [the injury] to was the type of injury a person might receive if they're in a violent car accident, some type of high impact situation, that's the only thing she compared that type of damage to a hymen to if I remember her testimony correctly." (R. p. 378,

lines. 17-22). Accordingly, the inference made to the jury is that someone had vaginally penetrated the Complainant. Moreover, like in Grovenstein, because of the young age of the Complainant, the jury was left to infer that she was not engaging in sexual conduct with a person other than the Petitioner. Accordingly, the jury had to assume that Petitioner would have been the only person that could have committed the abuse.

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