ALAN WILSON
ATTORNEY GENERAL

June 17, 2013

VIA HAND DELIVERY

The Honorable Jenny A. Kitchings
Clerk, South Carolina Court of Appeals
Post Office Box 11629
Columbia, SC 29211

Re: **State of South Carolina v. Joseph Bradley Loftin**
Appellate Case No: 2012-209191

Dear Ms. Kitchings:

Enclosed please find the original of the **Initial Brief of Respondent and Designation of Matter** in the above matter for filing in your office. By copy of this letter we are serving opposing counsel with this brief today.

Sincerely,

David Spencer
Assistant Deputy Attorney General
Bar No: 68571

RECEIVED
JUN 17 2013

SC Court of Appeals

DS/nb
Enclosures

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

Id. at 433-34; 683 S.E.2d at 278 (citing State v. Hallman, 298 S.C. 172, 379 S.E.2d 115 (1989); State v. McClellan, 283 S.C. 389, 323 S.E.2d 772 (1984)). Evidence of prior bad acts must logically relate to the charged offense, and the probative value of the evidence must outweigh any danger of unfair prejudice. State v. Holder, 382 S.C. 278, 293, 676 S.E.2d 690, 698 (2009). “The acid test of admissibility is the logical relevancy of the other crimes.” State v. Cutro, 332 S.C. 100, 103, 504 S.E.2d 324, 325 (1998).

“Even if prior bad act evidence is clear and convincing and falls within an exception, it must be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to the defendant.” State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. 148, 150, 682 S.E.2d 892, 896 (2009) (citing Rule 403, SCRE; Gaines, 380 S.C. at 29, 667 S.E.2d at 731; State v. Gillian, 373 S.C. 601, 609, 646 S.E.2d 872, 876 (2007)). “The

determination of the prejudicial effect of the evidence must be based on the entire record and the result will generally turn on the facts of each case.” Id. (citing State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 24, 664 S.E.2d 480, 483 (2008)).

In State v. Richey, 88 S.C. 239, 70 S.E.2d 729 (1911), Richey was charged with carnal knowledge of a girl under fourteen years of age. The Supreme Court found evidence that he continued this relationship beyond the age of fourteen years of age admissible, holding: “acts prior and also subsequent to the act charged in the indictment, when indicating a continuousness of illicit intercourse, are admissible in evidence as showing the relation and mutual disposition of the parties.” Id., 88 S.C. at 242 70 S.E. at 730.

In State v. Whitener, 228 S.C. 244, 89 S.E.2d 701 (1955), our Supreme Court noted that the common plan or scheme exception “is generally applied in cases involving sexual crimes, where evidence of acts prior and subsequent to the act charged in the indictment is held admissible as tending to show continued illicit intercourse between the same parties.” Whitener, 228 S.C. at 265, 89 S.E.2d at 711. The Supreme Court quoted Whitener in McClellan and found the prosecutrix’s testimony regarding prior bad attacks admissible with no further analysis. McClellan, 283 S.C. at 392, 323 S.E.2d at 774.

In State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 523 S.E.2d 787 (Ct. App. 1999), the Court of Appeals addressed a case involving the admissibility of testimony regarding the prior sexual abuse of the victim. The victim, Doe, testified Weaverling, his uncle, began performing oral sex on him almost every time he saw him beginning around the time Doe was seven or eight years old. Id., 337 S.C. at 465, 523 S.E.2d at 789. This continued at a

variety of locations for approximately five to six years. Id. Additionally, Weaverling had Doe view pornographic magazines and movies and also showed him nude photographs of his wife. Id. In December of 1994, Weaverling performed oral sex on Doe in Doe's tree house. Id., 337 S.C. at 465, 523 S.E.2d at 790. One to two weeks later, Weaverling touched Doe inappropriately several times. Id., 337 S.C. at 466, 523 S.E.2d at 790. Approximately one and half years passed without any sexual abuse before the abuse resumed. Id. In July of 1996, Weaverling performed oral sex on Doe twice while he was asleep in Weaverling's house. Id. Following Doe's revelation of the abuse, Weaverling was charged for the December 1994 incident and the two July 1996 incidents. Id., 337 S.C. at 465, 523 S.E.2d at 789. The trial court admitted Doe's testimony regarding all of the prior abuse, and the Court of Appeals affirmed. Id., 337 S.C. at 471, 523 S.E.2d at 793. The Court found the prior bad acts showed the sexual abuse of the same victim under similar circumstances spread out over a period of several years. Id. The Court found the testimony to be "quintessential common scheme or plan evidence." Id., 337 S.C. at 469, 523 S.E.2d at 791.

In State v. Kirton, 381 S.C. 7, 671 S.E.2d 107 (Ct. App. 2008), Kirton was convicted of criminal sexual conduct with a minor. Kirton was charged after his thirteen-year-old victim indicated Kirton took off her pants and inserted his penis into her crotch. Id., 359 S.C. at 15, 671 S.E.2d at 111. At trial, the victim was permitted to testify about incidents of sexual abuse that began when she was six or seven years old. Id., 359 S.C. at 13, 671 S.E.2d at 110. The Court of Appeals affirmed the admission of the prior bad act evidence, finding "a clear pattern of escalating sexual abuse" satisfying the requirements

of the common scheme or plan exception. Id., 359 S.C. at 36, 671 S.E.2d at 122.

Specifically, the Court of Appeals found the following:

All of Kirton's alleged activity was directed toward the same victim. The six to seven year pattern of escalating abuse of Victim by Kirton is the essence of grooming and continuous illicit activity. Kirton began by rubbing the minor victim's breasts, proceeded to make her touch his penis, began touching her vagina as she got older, and finally culminated the sexual abuse by engaging in the intercourse for which he was charged. The prior sexual acts did not take place just once or twice, six or seven years ago. Victim indicated they happened several times a month for years. While the prior sexual acts are not the same as the exact crime for which Kirton was charged, Victim detailed a clear pattern of escalating sexual abuse and not a few isolated, unrelated incidents.

Id., 359 S.C. at 36, 671 S.E.2d at 121-22.

In State v. Clasby, 385 S.C. 148, 150, 682 S.E.2d 892, 893 (2009), the Supreme Court considered the admissibility of prior bad acts in a case involving repeated acts directed at the same victim, Clasby's daughter. Clasby was indicted after her daughter alleged Clasby digitally-penetrated her vagina as they were lying on the floor of Clasby's sister's bedroom. Id., 385 S.C. at 153, 682 S.E.2d at 894. At trial, the victim was permitted to testify about several earlier occasions of sexual abuse suffered at Clasby's hands. Id. The victim detailed several incidents: (1) Clasby touched and rubbed the victim's vagina while they were in a bathtub together; (2) Clasby rubbed the victim's vagina inside of her underwear while they watched a movie together under a blanket; (3) Clasby inappropriately touched the victim while they slept together in the victim's father's bed; and (4) Clasby rubbed the victim's vagina and sucked on her breasts while at Clasby's father's home. Id., 385 S.C. at 152-153, 682 S.E.2d at 894. This Court

affirmed the admission of the prior bad acts, finding the prior incidents “established a pattern of escalating abuse which ultimately culminated in Clasby’s digital penetrations of [Clasby’s daughter]. The four prior incidents of sexual misconduct by Clasby reveal the same illicit conduct with [daughter] during periods of visitation prior to [the indicted offenses].” *Id.*, 385 S.C. at 156, 682 S.E.2d at 896.

In the instant case, the deer stand incident represents the same illicit conduct between Loftin and his victim. It involved the same victim, during the same time period as the charged conduct, and involved sexual intercourse like the incidents which would occur afterwards at the house in Lancaster County. Accordingly, testimony about the deer stand incident is admissible under the common plan or scheme exception.

Further, the evidence would be properly admissible under the *res gestae* theory. “Evidence of other crimes is admissible under the *res gestae* theory when the other actions are so intimately connected with the crime charged that their admission is necessary for a full presentation of the case.” *Anderson v. State*, 354 S.C. 431, 581 S.E.2d 834 (2003) (defendant’s assault on defendant’s former girlfriend and his threat to shoot her or the other man provides the context of subsequent shooting of the other man and is admissible as *res gestae*). A prior bad act may be admissible under the *res gestae* theory where it is “an integral part of the crime with which the defendant is charged or may be needed to aid the fact finder in understanding the context in which the crime occurred.” *State v. Owens*, 346 S.C. 637, 652, 552 S.E.2d 745, 753 (2001). In the instant case, the deer stand incident is integral to establishing the context of the crime, it represents the step in the grooming process where the illicit relationship graduated to

regular sexual intercourse and set the precedent for more sexual intercourse as the relationship changed from a father/daughter relationship to an illicit emotional and sexual relationship manipulated by Loftin so that Loftin's confused victim was ready to cast away her relationship with her mother and run away with Loftin.

Further, it is difficult to articulate how Loftin might be prejudiced, given that following the deer stand incident, the sexual assaults occurred every day from August to December 2007. Accordingly, this incident would be only one of approximately a hundred instances of sexual assault. The possible incremental prejudice from this one incident with the same victim, in the same relationship, and the same time period, would be negligible. The "materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case." State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 575 S.E.2d 77, 83 (2003). Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. State v. Reeves, 301 S.C. 191, 194, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990). Accordingly, any possible error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

II.

The trial court did not err in excluding evidence that Victim met boys or that she became pregnant three months after Appellant stopped having sexual intercourse with Victim where there was no allegation Appellant impregnated Victim and where there was no evidence that Victim had sexual intercourse with other individuals before or during the time period Appellant was sexually abusing Victim.

Loftin alleges the trial court erred in not allowing Loftin to inquire about an alleged instance where Victim left the house without permission and met a boyfriend. Loftin also alleges he should have been allowed to inquire about her being impregnated by this boyfriend in March 2008. Loftin, on appeal, but not to the trial court, claims he would have sought to inquire as to whether Victim was sexually active with this boy during August to December, 2007. However nothing in the record indicates that Victim was sexually active during this timeframe with anyone other than Loftin. The trial court properly excluded this evidence on the rape shield statute and as irrelevant.

Further, the trial court's ruling was preliminary, as discussed by Loftin's counsel and the trial court. Tr. p. 56. Loftin made no further effort to introduce the line of questioning at trial, although the trial court instructed Loftin to approach the bench if he would inquire on the matters outlined in his pre-trial motion. Tr. p. 56. A ruling *in limine* is not a final ruling on the admissibility of evidence. State v. Griffin, 339 S.C. 74, 528 S.E.2d 668 (2000); State v. Hughes, 336 S.C. 585, 521 S.E.2d 500 (1999). Generally, a motion *in limine* seeks a pre-trial evidentiary ruling to prevent the disclosure of potentially prejudicial matter to the jury. See State v. Floyd, 295 S.C. 518, 369 S.E.2d 842 (1988). A pre-trial ruling on the admissibility of evidence is preliminary, and is

subject to change based on developments at trial. Id. Accordingly, a final ruling from the trial court during trial was necessary to preserve the issue for review. State v. Smith, 337 S.C. 27, 32, 522 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1999).

Additionally, this issue is not preserved for review because no *in camera* testimony was taken to determine what testimony would be elicited from this line of questioning. The reviewing court may not consider alleged error in excluding testimony unless the record show fairly what the rejected testimony would have been. State v. Roper, 274 S.C. 14, 20, 260 S.E.2d 705, 708 (1979).

Further, on the merits, the line of questioning was properly excluded, as the evidence was irrelevant. In Loftin's Motion to Allow Evidence, four items were proposed. The third item, evidence of semen from an unknown male found in the residence, was discussed at trial. Tr. p. 256. The first item, that Victim and friends may have had pornographic materials in a clubhouse, is not discussed in Loftin's brief. The two remaining items that are challenged on appeal are that (1) Loftin should have been allowed to examine Victim about her leaving the house without permission in November 2007 and (2) Loftin should have been allowed to examine Victim about becoming pregnant in March 2008. There was no relevance to either line of questioning.

"The relevance, materiality, and admissibility of evidence are matters within the sound discretion of the trial court and a ruling will be disturbed only upon a showing of an abuse of discretion." State v. Shuler, 353 S.C. 176, 184, 577 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2003). Thus a trial court's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of relevant evidence will be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. State v.

Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 580 S.E.2d 785 (Ct. App. 2003). Relevant evidence may be excluded where its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 403, SCORE; State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 210, 631 S.E.2d 262, 266 (2006).

“If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal.” State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. 344, 358, 543 S.E.2d 586, 598 (Ct. App. 2001) *overruled on other grounds by* State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005) .

The right to present a defense is not unlimited, but must “bow to accommodate other legitimate interests in the criminal trial process.” Rock v. Arkansas, 483 U.S. 44, 55 (1987). While defendants are entitled to a fair opportunity to present a defense, that right does not encompass the right to present any evidence regardless of its admissibility under the rules of evidence. Hamilton.

First, the trial court did not err in excluding evidence that Victim left the house without permission and met a boy. Based on Appellant’s motion, it does not even appear that Victim was alone with the boy. The motion states Victim “along with others without permission slipped out of her home to meet with some members of the opposite sex.” (Mot. to Allow Evidence, R. at __.) Nothing in the record indicates Victim engaged in sexual activity at this time. Accordingly, evidence of Victim leaving the house had no relevance to the trial.

When asked the relevancy of the fact that Victim allegedly left the house without permission, Loftin’s counsel had the following discussion with the trial court:

Court: The fact that she slipped out of the home to meet somebody?

Counsel: What I say, Your Honor, is except who she met.

Court: What has that got to do with this case?

Counsel: Well, the boy she met was the father of her child.

Court: What has that got to do with the allegations in this case?

Counsel: It has nothing to do with the allegations, Your Honor. It goes to the – my client’s right to have a fair trial, it goes to her credibility and believability based on other acts that she committed. It’s not to bring up her morality or anything even though she had a child at the age of 13, somebody should have been arrested for that but they weren’t but I’m not questioning that, Your Honor, from a morality standpoint. It is simply being allowed to use these items – that I’m allowed to use for purposes of impeachability of her testimony, the credibility and believability.

Court: How does that statement that she slipped out of the house affect her credibility?

Counsel: I’ll have to expand it, Your Honor, from the standpoint of what she was doing and who she was meeting and why. I can only give you a bare bones assertion in the motion but it is something I have got to get out of her if she will admit she did it.

Tr. p. 52, line 24 – p. 53, line 25.

Note Loftin now argues for the first time on appeal that Victim’s rendezvous with another male provides an alternative explanation for the pregnancy scare. This argument for admission was not raised to the trial court. Accordingly, the argument is not preserved for review. The ground raised in support of a claim of error on appeal must be

the same ground offered in support of the objection at trial. State v. Smith, 337 S.C. 27, 34, 522 S.E.2d 598, 601 (1999).

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